
           
Charleston Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning

City of Charleston

City Council Chambers
520 Jackson Avenue

Thursday, February 11, 2021
7:00 P.M.

AGENDA
  

Notice is hereby given that a regular meeting of the Charleston Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning will be held
on Thursday, February 11, 2021, at 7:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers, on the 2nd Floor of City Hall at 520
Jackson Avenue, Charleston, Illinois 61920.
 
Social distancing may limit physical attendance at City Hall. The public hearing will also be broadcast at the
following link: www.charlestonillinois.org (Click on:  Agendas, Packets & Videos for City Council and BZAP).
 
Interested parties can participate in any of the following 3 ways:
 

Submission of written comments before the public hearing: 1.

Written comments may be emailed to City Clerk Deborah Muller at:   CityClerk.co.coles.il.us.
Written comments received by 5:00 p.m. on Friday, February 5, 2021 will be included in the meeting packet
sent to the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning.  This meeting packet is also posted on the City’s website:
www.charlestonillinois.org.
Written comments received after 5:00 p.m. on Friday, February 5, 2021 through 5:00 p.m. on Wednesday,
February 10, 2021 will be emailed directly to the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning but will not
be included in the meeting packet or posted on the City’s website.
Written comments received after 5:00 p.m. on February 10, 2021, will be added to the case file.

 

Participation during the public hearing:2.

If you wish to provide comment, testimony, questions, or cross examination on a petition, or otherwise
address the BZAP on any public hearing matter before it, please email Deborah Muller, City Clerk at the
following email addresses to register your participation before 5:00 p.m. on the day of the hearing: 
CityClerk@co.coles.il.us. Alternatively, you may obtain a registration form outside the public hearing room,
fill the form out, and place it in the registration form box, which will be brought to the dais prior to the
meeting.
Individuals who do not wish to speak during the public hearing may simply indicate whether they support or
are opposed to the application. The individual’s name and their position on the application will be read aloud
into the record at the hearing. Any written comments submitted by an individual in conjunction with their
position will also be read into the record, subject to compliance with the City’s public comment and public
hearing rules and procedures.
Individuals who register to speak in advance will receive an email from City staff with information about how
to join the meeting.
Individuals who fail to register in advance may participate in the hearing by following the instructions
provided on the meeting agenda.

 

Other methods of participation: Any individual who would like to listen to the meeting by telephone or
who may require a special accommodation to listen to or participate in the meeting, should contact the City
Clerk Deborah Muller at 217-345-5650 and/or email CityClerk@co.coles.il.us as soon as possible.

3.

*PLEASE NOTE: Times are provided for audience members to ask the Petitioner questions, speak in support of the
petition or speak against the petition. Anyone addressing the Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning is requested to
approach the podium, provide the City Clerk with name & address, and speak into the microphone. A handheld
microphone will be provided for those unable to approach the podium. 

           
1. Call to Order   
 
2. Roll Call   
 
3. Allow Remote Participation by BZAP Members.
 
4. Approval of Minutes from the regular meeting of the Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning on December

10, 2020.

http://www.charlestonillinois.org/
http://www.charlestonillinois.org/
mailto:CityClerk@co.coles.il.us
mailto:CityClerk@co.coles.il.us


 
5. The Petition of Lanman Properties, Inc. for the following Zoning Map Amendment:
  Zoning Map Amendment (change in zoning district boundaries / rezoning) from R3 – Limited

Multi-Family Residence District to C-2 General Commercial District.
 
All on a tract of land described as:
 
A PART OF THE NORTHEAST QUARTER (NE 1/4) OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NW 1/4)
OF THE NORTHWEST QUARTER (NW 1/4) OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE ¼) OF
SECTION FIFTEEN (15), TOWNSHIP TWELVE (12) NORTH, RANGE NINE (9) EAST OF THE
THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, DESCRIBED AS FOLLOWS: FROM THE NORTHEAST CORNER
OF THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER (SE ¼) OF SAID SECTION FIFTEEN (15) MEASURE WEST 2002
FEET, THENCE SOUTH ALONG THE WEST LINE OF “B” STREET, 211 FEET TO THE PLACE OF
BEGINNING, THENCE SOUTH 60 FEET, THENCE WEST 97 FEET THENCE NORTH 60 FEET,
THENCE EAST 97 FEET TO THE PLACE BEGINNING, COLES COUNTY, ILLINOIS
 
Also known as 1506 B Street, Charleston Illinois (PIN # 02-1-00626-000)
 

 
6. The Petition of Coles County Habitat for Humanity for the following conditional use permit:
  Conditional Use Permit (to allow “All Other Community Service”) in the I-2 Heavy Industrial District;

and City Code Title 10-6-11 Conversion to Conditional Use.
 
All on a tract of land described as:
 
Also known as 990 West State Street, Charleston, Illinois (PIN # 02-1-00307-000).
 
 

 
The following protocol will be observed after presentation of petition(s) at the direction of the Chair:

A. *Questions from the Board and Petitioner response.
B. *Questions from the audience and Petitioner response.
C. *Anyone present wishing to speak in favor of the petition.
D. *Anyone present wishing to speak against the petition.
E. Petitioner response.
F. Board Discussion.
G. Call for a vote.

 
7. Old Business   
 
8. New Business.   
 
9. Adjournment.   
 

BZAP MEMBERS PLEASE NOTE: Contact Deborah Muller, City Clerk, at 345-8426, as soon as possible, if you
are NOT able to attend this meeting. Thank you.



   
Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning 3.        
Meeting Date: 02/11/2021  

Information

Attachments
No file(s) attached.



   
Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning 4.        
Meeting Date: 02/11/2021  

Information

Attachments
BZAP Minutes: 12/10/2020. 



Page 1 of 7 
 

City of Charleston 
BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS AND PLANNING 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

520 Jackson Avenue 
Charleston, Illinois 

Thursday, December 10, 2020 
7:00 p.m. 

 

MINUTES 
 
The regular meeting of the Charleston Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning scheduled for 
7:00 p.m. was called to order on Thursday, December 10, 2020, at 7:00 p.m. by Chairman Jason 
Wavering. 
 
Item 1.  Chairman Wavering directed the City Clerk to call the roll and the following answered 
present to the call of his or her name. 
 
Board Members Physically Present: Paul Brown, Tim Jacobs, Ryan Siegel, Lexe Volk, and 
Jason Wavering. Jill Nilsen was present via remote participation. 
 
Board Member (s) Absent: Pat Adair. 
 
A physical quorum was present. 
 
Staff members Present:  City Planner Steve Pamperin; Building Code Official Alex Winkler; 
City Attorney Rachael Cunningham; and City Clerk Deborah Muller. 
 
Present on behalf of the Petitioner were Sarah J. Jennings, petitioner; and Ron Galbreath, 
witness. 
 
Chairman Wavering welcomed everyone and explained that the meeting was being audio and 
video-recorded and explained the Board’s procedures. 
 
Item 2.  The next order of business was to allow remote participation if required. Chairman 
Wavering read into the record the City of Charleston Board of Zoning, Appeals and Planning 
Member Remote Participation policy. 
 
It is the policy of the City of Charleston Board of Zoning, Appeals & Planning (“public body”) 
that its members may attend and participate in any open or closed meeting by video or audio 
conference, provided that such attendance and participation complies with this policy, the Open 
Meetings Act, and any other applicable laws. 
 



Page 2 of 7 
 

A member of the public body may attend an open and closed meeting by video or audio conference 
if: the member notifies the City Clerk at least 24 hours before the meeting unless advance notice 
is impractical; and the member is prevented from physically attending because of: personal illness 
or disability; employment purposes or the business of the public body; or a family or other 
emergency; and a quorum of the public body is physically present at the location of the meeting 
as posted in the meeting notice; and a majority of the physically present public body members vote 
to approve the remote attendance. 
 
After roll call, the physically present public body members will consider the prerequisites in 
Section 2, and vote on whether to allow a remote member to participate by video or audio 
conference. All the physically present members are permitted to vote on whether to allow the 
remote member to participate by video or audio conference. The public body may vote to allow 
remote participation for a member for a single meeting, or a stated series of meetings if the same 
reason applies for each meeting. 
 
A quorum must be physically present at a meeting before the public body considers whether to 
allow a remote member to participate by video or audio conference at that meeting. A remote 
member may attend by video or audio conference by a majority vote of the physically present 
members. A quorum must be physically present at all times during the meeting. 
 
When a member is authorized to attend remotely, the meeting minutes must state whether each 
member is physically present, or present by video or audio conference. 
 
The member permitted to participate remotely may express his or her comments during the 
meeting and participate in the same capacity as those members physically present, subject to all 
general meeting guidelines and procedures. The remote member shall be heard, considered, and 
counted as to any vote taken. Accordingly, the City Clerk shall call the name of any remote 
member during any vote taken, and count and record the remote member’s vote in the meeting 
minutes. A remote member may leave a meeting and return as in the case of any member. 
 
For closed meetings, a quorum of public body members must be physically present at any closed 
meeting. Members participating remotely shall otherwise be entitled to participate in closed 
meetings by video or audio conference. 
 
With advance approval by the public body, members may have costs associated with remote 
participation reimbursed, including video conferencing and other audio and video equipment. 
 
Chairman Wavering advised that those were the proposed participation rules and asked if there 
was any discussion on the rules. 
 
Chairman Wavering stated that 5 board members were present physically which constituted a 
quorum.  
 
City Planner Steve Pamperin said that Board Member Jill Nilsen had notified the City Clerk a 
minimum of 24-hours prior to the meeting and that her remote participation met the prerequisites 
set forth in the remote attendance policy. 
 



Page 3 of 7 
 

Item 3.  The next order of business was to allow remote participation by Board Member Jill 
Nilsen. 
 
A motion was made by Ryan Siegel and seconded by Tim Jacobs to allow Board Member Jill 
Nilsen after having met the criteria of the policy of the Board. 
 
A Roll Call vote showed Board Members Paul Brown, Tim Jacobs, Ryan Siegel, Lexe Volk, and 
Chairman Jason Wavering voting in favor of the motion.   
 
Motion carried with 5-Yeas, 0-Nays. 
 
The Board welcomed Board Member Jill Nilsen to the meeting. 
 
Item 4.  The next order of business was approval of the minutes. 
 
A motion was made by Ryan Siegel and seconded by Lexe Volk to approve the Minutes from 
the regular meeting of the Board of Zoning and Appeals & Planning on September 24, 2020. 
 
A Roll Call vote showed Board Members Paul Brown, Tim Jacobs, Jill Nilsen, Ryan Siegel, 
Lexe Volk, and Chairman Wavering voting in favor of the motion.   
 
Motion carried with 7-Yeas, 0-Nays. 
 
Chairman Wavering in a prepared statement said, “As indicated earlier, interested parties have 
been provided the opportunity to comment on each case tonight in a variety of ways, including 
the submittal of written comments prior to tonight’s meeting for inclusion in the meeting packet. 
In addition, the members of the public were invited to: 
  

1.  Submit an indication of support or opposition to be read into the record by staff;  

2.  Submit written comments to be read into the record by City staff; or 

3.  Request to speak during the meeting. 

For those who registered to speak, I will call each speaker in the order that he or she signed up.  
Speakers will be muted until their names are called by staff.  Prior to speaking, I will ask the 
speaker to state his or her name and then be sworn in. 
 
Finally, before adjourning the public hearing portion of any case, I will ask if anyone who is 
participating in the meeting by phone or through the electronic meeting platform, but did not 
specifically sign up to speak through the City Clerk, would like to provide comment or 
testimony.  
 
To ensure that we have an opportunity to hear from each person wishing to speak, please keep 
your comments specific to the request under consideration and try to avoid repetitive comments. 
Anyone participating in the hearing will also be able to ask questions of any speaker that 
provided testimony. 
  



Page 4 of 7 
 

With that said, we have come to the portion of our agenda that has been reserved for public 
hearings.  
 
One of the duties of the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning is to conduct a public hearing to 
listen and record the testimony of the public whenever the City considers an amendment to the 
Zoning Code or Comprehensive Plan; a variance, a zoning map amendment, commonly known 
as rezoning; approval of a conditional-use permit, including planned unit developments; or an 
amendment to a special-use permit.  
 
The order we follow for each public hearing is this:  
 
The petitioner presents his or her proposal, describing it through written items and reports.  

Members of the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning question the petitioner and the City with 
regard to the project.  
 
Then, the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning will hear testimony of interested parties both 
for and against the petition. At the conclusion of your testimony, you may cross-examine or ask 
questions of the petitioner or its witnesses about the proposal, although all questions should be 
directed to me. I will then redirect the question to the appropriate individual. The petitioner will 
also have an opportunity to cross-examine or ask questions of anyone that testified. 
  
Following testimony and cross-examination, the petitioner and the Board of Zoning Appeals and 
Planning may ask questions of those who testified. 
  
The petitioner may provide a rebuttal to any testimony in opposition, subject again to cross-
examination by the parties.  
 
When there is no further testimony, the hearing will be closed, and the Board of Zoning Appeals 
and Planning will take its vote and in most cases makes its recommendation to the City Council.  
Please be concise in your testimony. If your point has already been made during the hearing, it 
will not be necessary for you to repeat it. Each item addressed and each point made is recorded 
and considered as the Board of Zoning Appeals and Planning makes its findings and 
recommendation.  
 
When it is your turn to testify, please raise your hand and I will call on you. To ensure that 
everyone can be heard, please do not speak until I call on you. Please then state your name for 
the record.  
 
After everyone who wishes to present testimony has spoken, the Members will be asked to 
consider whether they have heard adequate testimony to make a decision. The Members and the 
City will then offer their comments based on the testimony presented at the hearing and 
considering the comments of other entities such as other units of local government. In addition, 
anyone may present additional information in response to a specific question or requests for 
information from the Board. Those are the only circumstances under which the Board will hear 
additional testimony. 
 



Page 5 of 7 
 

It is important to note that 4 affirmative votes are required for a favorable recommendation to the 
City of the total 5 members present. The Petitioner may request a continuance at any time prior 
to the vote by the Board. 
 
Chairman Wavering then introduced Item #5 on the agenda and opened the public hearing with 
regard to this issue.  He began the public hearing by reading the notice of publication into the 
record: 
 
“The public hearing this evening is to consider the petition of Sara J. Jennings for the following 
variances: 
 
Title 10, Chapter 8, Section 1—Density and Dimensional Standards including but not limited 
to:  10-8-1(C) Table 8-1 to allow an approximately 9’ front yard setback (south) and to allow 
an approximately 2’ side yard setback (east) all in the R-1 Single-Family Residential District. 
 
All on a tract of land described as:  
 
1045 West Polk Avenue, Charleston, Illinois 61920 (PIN #02-2-07441-000) 
 
Without any objections from members of the Board, the public hearing on this issue is now open.”  
 
 
Chairman Wavering asked that those wishing to speak be sworn in one at a time.  He noted that 
they would need to approach the podium and state their names and addresses for the record when 
they spoke.   
 
Sara J. Jennings and Ron Galbreath were sworn in at this time. 
 
Sarah J. Jennings, 1045 West Polk Avenue, Charleston, Illinois, owner and petitioner, and 
Ron Galbreath, petitioner’s representative, stated that the petitioner had constructed a carport 
(an accessory building) that was 26.5’ x 22.6’ (an approximately 600 square foot building). 
 
The property was zoned R-1 Single-Family Residential with an existing single-family residential 
use.  They were unaware at the time that the Charleston City Code requires structures to have a 
25’ front yard setback and a 6’ side yard setback when locating an accessory structure in the 
front yard. 
 
The Petitioner maintained that her health required the positioning of the carport where it had 
been located. 
 
Ms. Jennings and Mr. Galbreath said that they had constructed the carport without known a 
building permit was required and that setbacks would be an issue.  It was noted that the carport 
was not finished, and the owner intended to add a door to the south side of the structure to 
enclose it.  The current existing garage was being used for storage and crafts, so there was no 
space for vehicles in it.   
 



Page 6 of 7 
 

Their home has a side yard setback of approximately 5 feet.  The carport has a setback to the east 
side of approximately 2 feet.  The carport’s front yard setback was about 9 feet to the property 
line. 
 
Ms. Jennings and Mr. Galbreath testified that the application met the required findings for 
approval of the variance described in Section 10-4-3(J)(4) of the Unified Development Code 
(UDC). 
 
There was one (1) public comment with regard to the petition:  
 
William “Bill” Miller, 2461 Harrison Avenue, located across the street from the subject 
address, sent an email dated November 16, 2020.  In the email, Mr. Miller commented that the 
carport should stay at its current location. 
 
Chairman Wavering asked if there were any other questions or comments. There were not. 
 
Chairman Wavering called for Board Discussion. 
 
There were concerns about the proximity of the structure with regard to both the front and side 
yard setbacks. 
 
Board Discussion came to a close. 
 
A motion was made by Ryan Siegel and seconded by Lexe Volk that the petition for a variance 
of Title 10, Chapter 8, Section 1—Density & Dimensional Standards including but not limited 
to:  10-8-1(C) Table 8-1 to allow an approximately 9-foot front yard setback (to the south) at 
1045 West Polk Avenue, Charleston, be approved. 
 
A Roll Call vote showed Board Members Paul Brown, Jill Nilsen, Ryan Siegel, Lexe Volk, and 
Chairman Wavering voting in favor of the motion.  
 
Board Member Tim Jacobs voted against the motion.  
 
The Motion carried with a vote of 5-Yeas, 1-Nay. 
 
A motion was then made by Lexe Volk and seconded by Ryan Siegel that the petition for a 
variance of Title 10, Chapter 8, Section 1—Density & Dimensional Standards including but not 
limited to:  10-8-1(C) Table 8-1 to allow an approximately 2-foot front yard setback (to the east) 
at 1045 West Polk Avenue, Charleston, be approved. 
 
A Roll Call vote showed Board Members Jill Nilsen, Lexe Volk and Jason Wavering voting in 
favor of the motion.  Board Members Paul Brown, Tim Jacobs, and Ryan Siegel voted against 
the motion.   
 
The Motion failed to carry with a vote of 3-Yeas, 3-Nays. 
 



Page 7 of 7 
 

It was noted again that the petition for a variance of Title 10-8-1(C) Table 8-1 “Density and 
Dimensional Standards” of an approximately 9’ front yard setback (south side) for structures in 
the front yard for would go to City Council with a favorable recommendation with a vote of 5:1. 
 
It was further noted that the petition for a variance of Title 10-8-1(C) Table 8-1 “Density and 
Dimensional Standards” of an approximately 2’ side yard setback for structure in the side yard 
(east side) would receive no recommendation due to the vote of 3:3.  
 
Old Business:   None.  
 
New Business:  City Planner Steve Pamperin said that there were some projects coming up, but 
not until after the new year. 
 
As there was no further business to discuss, Board Chair Wavering said that he would entertain a 
motion to adjourn. 
 
A motion was made by Tim Jacobs and seconded by Paul Brown to adjourn. 
 
A Roll Call vote showed Board Members Paul Brown, Tim Jacobs, Jill Nilsen, Ryan Siegel, 
Lexe Volk, and Chairman Jason Wavering voting in favor of the motion.   
 
Motion carried with 6-Yeas, 0-Nays. 
 
Adjournment:  7:40 p.m. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
___________________________ 
Secretary Jill Nilsen 
 
 
___________________________ 
Deborah Muller 
City Clerk/Recording Secretary 



   
Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning 5.        
Meeting Date: 02/11/2021  

Information

Attachments
Application 21-101: Petition of Lanman Properties, Inc. 
Lanman Properties, Inc. 250' Buffer Map. 

























   
Board of Zoning Appeals & Planning 6.        
Meeting Date: 02/11/2021  

Information

Attachments
21-102 -- Habitat for Humanity Application for Conditional Use Permit at 990 W. State Street. 


















	Agenda
	AI 2940 Allow Remote Participation by BZAP members.
	AI 29412941
	       ATT_BZAP Minutes_ 12_10_2020.
	AI 2937 Petition of Lanman Properties, Inc. for Zoning Map Amendment.
	       ATT_Application 21-101_  Petition of Lanman Properties, Inc.
	       ATT_Lanman Properties, Inc. 250' Buffer Map.
	AI 2938 The Petition of Coles County Habitat for Humanity for a Conditional Use Permit at 990 W. State Street.
	       ATT_21-102 -- Habitat for Humanity Application for Conditional Use Permit at 990 W. State Street.

